#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC00-1388**

LORAN COLE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH CIRCUIT COURT OF THE JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JULIUS J. AULISIO Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No. 0561304

LESLIE A. SCALLEY STAFF ATTORNEY FLORIDA BAR NO. 0174981

CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-MIDDLE 3801 Corporex Park, Suite 210 Tampa, Florida 33619

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This is the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Loran Cole's motion for post conviction relief which was brought pursuant to the Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850.

#### **STATEMENT OF CASE**

Mr. Cole was indicted on March 10, 1994, of one count of first degree murder, two counts of kidnapping while armed, two counts of robbery with a deadly weapon, and two counts of sexual battery while armed (RV 1 104-7). Mr. Cole was tried by a jury September 25-28, 1995, in the Circuit Court of the Fifth Judicial Circuit, Marion County. The jury found him guilty as charged on all counts (RV 5 763-69). After a penalty phase conducted on September 28-29, 1995, the jury unanimously recommended a death sentence for the first degree murder conviction (RV 5 793). On December 21, 1995, the trial court imposed a death sentence for the first degree murder and life sentences for each of the remaining counts (RV 6 928-40). Mr. Cole's co-defendant, William Paul, plead nolo contendre to first degree murder, two counts of kidnapping while armed, and two counts of robbery with a deadly weapon and received life sentences.

This Court affirmed Mr. Cole's convictions and sentences on direct appeal.

Cole v. State, 701 So.2d 845 (Fla. 1997). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari in 1998. Cole v. Florida, 523 U.S. 105 (1998).

Mr. Cole filed his shell post-conviction motion on June 5, 1998, before his one-year date, and an amended motion on September 27, 1999. After a Huff hearing on February 14, 2000, the court granted an evidentiary hearing on the

following issues: whether counsel was ineffective during voir dire for failing to individually question each prospective juror and his failure to strike juror Cutts, whether counsel's failure to call Paul as a witness was ineffective assistance of counsel, whether counsel's failure to contemporaneously object to the state's improper opening statement or request a curative instruction was ineffective assistance of counsel, whether calling John Thompson as the sole defense witness and giving up first and last closing argument was ineffective assistance of counsel, whether counsel's failure to present a brain damage expert was ineffective assistance of counsel, whether counsel's failure to request instructions on the statutory mitigators of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and impaired capacity to conform conduct was ineffective assistance of counsel, and whether there was a Brady violation (V6, 936). The Court denied all other claims (V6, 936).

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

The court limited the evidentiary hearing witness list to trial counsel Don Gleason, state attorney Brad King, and Eleanor Simpson (V7, 1010-11). The evidentiary hearing was held May 15, 2000.

Trial counsel, Don Gleason, testified that he was very busy during the course of Mr. Cole's case (V11, 1405-6). He handled other felony cases which required

extensive preparation (V11, 1406). Mr. Gleason tried one previous capital guilt phase, but he had never prepared or tried a capital penalty phase before Mr. Cole's (V11, 1406-7). Mr. Gleason did not ask for co-counsel because he had an investigator (V11, 1410).

Mr. Gleason had no recollection of the voir dire in Mr. Cole's trial, except that he listened to the jurors answer both the court's and the state's questions (V11, 1413, 1454). However, he testified his voir dire policy was to learn as much as he could about prospective jurors (V11, 1414). Mr. Gleason did not peremptorily strike juror Cutts, who was a correctional officer, after the court refused to strike him for cause because Mr. Cole wanted him to be a juror (V11, 1419-20, 1455).

Mr. Gleason chose not to call William Paul as a witness because Mr. Gleason did not believe Paul's testimony could help Mr. Cole (V11, 1457). Also, Paul refused to testify, and Mr. Cole did not want Paul to testify (V11, 1459-60).

Mr. Gleason did not request a curative instruction after the prosecutor's improper opening statement that the Edwards found "mankind at its worst" when they entered Ocala National Forrest because Mr. Gleason felt the jury would not understand a curative instruction, and he did not want to emphasize the comment (V11, 1462-63)(RV 11, 547).

The public defender retained Dr. Berland, a psychologist, to work on Mr. Cole's case shortly after he was arrested and before Mr. Gleason took the case (V11, 1467-68). Mr. Gleason sent him 44 pounds of documents (V11, 1470-71).

Mr. Gleason called John Thompson as a witness even though he knew he would lose the right to first and last closing argument (V11, 1427). Mr. Gleason chose to call Mr. Thompson, who was first called as a state witness, because he believed the rules of evidence prevented him from eliciting the information he wanted when he cross-examined Mr. Thompson during the state's evidence (V11, 1424).

On a to-do list dated June 15, 1995, Mr. Gleason wrote that he needed to have Mr. Cole evaluated for brain damage (V11, 1432). Though he now remembers no dealings with Dr. Bortnik, Mr. Gleason eventually hired Dr. Bortnik to evaluate Loran Cole for brain damage (V11, 1433-34, 1438). Mr. Gleason sent Dr. Bortnik some materials (V11, 1475). Mr. Gleason did not know what Dr. Bortnik did during the evaluation, but he had a note indicating a phone conversation with Dr. Bortnik which stated "neuropsychologically sound" (V11, 1435, 1478, 1501-2).

Regarding his failure to request the mental health statutory mental mitigation instructions, Mr. Gleason stated, "Well if the evidence established something that

would allow us and entitle us to a statutory mitigator, then that should have been done." (V11, 1514). "Well if the evidence didn't establish it, I can see an opportunity where I might want it, anyway. But the Court is not going to allow it, if the evidence doesn't establish it." (V11, 1514-15).

Dr. Berland was at the courthouse and prepared to testify to Loran Cole's brain damage at the evidentiary hearing, but the court refused to allow even proffered testimony (V11, 1520-24).

Though he was not on the limited witness list, the court allowed Mr. Cole to proffer Dr. Dee's testimony to address the claim regarding counsel's failure to have an adequate neuropsychological evaluation of Mr. Cole (V11, 1523). The court accepted Dr. Dee, who is a neuropsychologist, as an expert (V11, 1529). Dr. Dee testified that a neuropsychological evaluation requires a battery of tests and an extensive interview (V11, 1529). Three of the tests consist of a number of smaller tests which are examined on comparable scales (V11, 1530-32). The Wechsler test alone takes at least one hour (V11, 1530-32). The battery of tests usually takes six to seven hours (V11, 1530-32). The interview part of the evaluation, during which Dr. Dee obtains medical and biographical information, takes at least an hour (V11, 1532). It is impossible to determine a person is neuropsychologically sound in only one hour (V11, 1532-33, 1541).

Dr. Dee tested Mr. Cole and found brain damage (V11, 1534-38). Mr. Cole was not malingering (V11, 1534-38). The brain damage resulted in cognitive impairment which caused Mr. Cole extreme mental disturbance at the time of the crime (V11, 1540). The brain damage caused impulse control problems which impaired Mr. Cole's ability to appreciate the criminality of his conduct at the time of the crime (V11, 1541). Had Dr. Dee worked on Mr. Cole's case before trial, he would have testified the same way at trial (V11, 1541).

Regarding the <u>Brady</u> violation claim, Eleanor Simpson testified that she was interested in Mr. Cole's trial because she knew both the victim's family and Mr. Cole's family (V11, 1543). Mrs. Simpson went to the direct appeal oral argument and, while there, she spoke to state attorney Brad King (V11, 1544-45). Mr. King explained that Paul did not testify because, "we were afraid that Mr. Paul would admit and take the blame for the whole incident" (V11, 1545, 1556). Mrs. Simpson wrote an affidavit describing what King told her and sent a copy to the Florida Supreme Court (V11, 1545). Mr. Cole's mother, Ann Cole, typed the affidavit and included some mistakes and some false information (V11, 1547-48, 1552-54). However, the portion of the affidavit transcribing the statement Mr. King made to her was absolutely true (V11, 1555-58). Mrs. Simpson also testified that she knows some juries are rigged and that she is disgruntled with the court

system's treatment of a military ex-wives statute (V11, 1548-50, 1568).

Brad King testified that when he spoke to Mrs. Simpson, he told her Paul did not testify because, "we had a good case without him; he was there and could have been called, but I chose not to call him; and, in part, I chose not to call him because I could never tell for a certainty what he would say if he testified" (V12, 1576). He described Mrs. Simpson's statement as an inaccurate reflection of what he said (V12, 1577). Mr. King believes Mr. Cole, not Mr. Paul, was the actual killer (V12, 1578).

The court allowed Mr. Cole to proffer some of Mr. King's testimony to the prosecutorial misconduct claim, which was outside the scope of the limited evidentiary hearing (V11, 1581). Mr. King testified that, although Paul's hand was not actually broken, he based his closing argument that it was broken and that Paul could not open the murder weapon because his hand was broken on Pam Edwards' testimony that Paul said his hand was broken (V12, 1581-85).

The court denied Mr. Cole's 3.850 motion on May 24, 2000 (V9, V10). This appeal follows.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The lower court erred in summarily denying the following claims without an evidentiary hearing because they were properly pled and presented facts

upon which relief could be granted:

- A. Counsel's failure to investigate and present evidence of Loran Cole's seventeen year history of drug and alcohol abuse was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- B. Counsel's failure to investigate nonstatutory mitigation including physical an sexual abuse was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- C. Counsel's failure to object to and refute the prosecutor's improper closing argument was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- D. Counsel's failure to request the proper limiting construction for the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravating factor was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- E. Counsel's failure to introduce co-defendant Paul's life sentence as mitigation was ineffective assistance of counsel.
- F. Counsel's failure to request co-counsel was deficient performance which prejudicially impacted his representation of Mr. Cole.
- G. Counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase because he failed to object to improper hearsay statements which prejudicially bolstered the state's evidence.
  - 2. The trial court erred in holding that counsel's failure to request the

statutory mental health mitigator instructions was not ineffective assistance of counsel.

- 3. The trial court erred in holding that counsel's failure to have a competent neuropsychological examination performed on Mr. Cole was not ineffective assistance of counsel.
- 4. The trial court erred in not addressing and granting relief because Mr.

  Cole did not receive a competent mental health evaluation to determine brain damage.
- 5. The trial court denied Mr. Cole a full and fair evidentiary hearing because the court refused Mr. Cole the opportunity to present the witness he need to establish that he did not receive a competent mental health evaluation and his right to effective assistance of counsel.
- 6. The trial court erred in concluding that counsel was effective on the following claims:
- A. Counsel was ineffective because he failed to individually voir dire two seated jurors.
- B. Counsel was ineffective because he failed to use a peremptory challenge to remove juror Cutts from the jury.
  - C. Counsel was ineffective because he failed to present the co-

defendant's testimony to establish that the co-defendant was likely the actual killer.

- D. Counsel was ineffective because he failed to contemporaneously object to the prosecutor's improper opening statement and failing to move for a curative instruction .
- E. Counsel was ineffective because he needlessly called a witness and lost Mr. Cole's right to first and last closing arguments.
- 7. The trial court erred in denying Mr. Cole's motion to release and test semen samples. The court's error denied Mr. Cole's rights to a full and fair evidentiary hearing.
- 8. Mr. Cole was denied a fair evidentiary hearing and penalty phase because the court allowed nonstatutory aggravating circumstances to be presented during Mr. Cole's penalty phase and relied on those nonstatutory aggravating circumstances when denying Mr. Cole postconviction relief.
- 9. The trial court erred in holding that the prosecution did not withhold exculpatory information in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland.</u>
- 10. Rule 4-3.5(d)(4) of the Rules Regulating the Florida Bar unconstitutionally prevents Mr. Cole from investigating claims of juror bias and misconduct. The trial court erred in not granting an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

- 11. The penalty phase jury instructions denied Mr. Cole's Fifth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights because they shifted to him the burder to prove death was not the appropriate sentence. The trial court erred in not granting an evidentiary hearing on this issue.
- 12. Cumulative error deprived Loran Cole of his right to a fair trial and resulted in his death sentence.

#### **ARGUMENT I**

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MERITORIOUS CLAIMS REGARDING COUNSEL'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING LORAN COLE'S CLAIMS THAT COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE DURING THE GUILT AND PENALTY PHASES OF HIS CAPITAL TRIAL, IN VIOLATION OF THE FIFTH, SIXTH, EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS.

Although the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing on some claims, the court erroneously summarily denied the others. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850;

O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734, 735-37 (Fla. 1986). The law strongly favors full evidentiary hearings in capital post-conviction cases, especially where a claim is grounded in factual matters. A post-

conviction movant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and the records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; <u>Lemon v. State</u>, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1986).

This Court has clearly indicated the need for mandatory evidentiary hearings on initial rule 3.850 motions. In his concurring opinion in Mordenti v. State, 711 So. 2d 30, 33 (Fla. 1998), Justice Wells stated "the rule should be amended to require that an evidentiary hearing is mandated on initial motions which assert ineffective assistance of counsel, Brady, or other legally cognizable claims which allege an ultimate factual basis." Subsequently, Justice Pariente, in a special concurring opinion in Gaskin v. State, 737 So. 2d 509, 519 (Fla. 1999), reiterated her agreement with Justice Wells that "the better practice would be to require trial courts to hold evidentiary hearings on the initial 3.850 motion in death penalty cases...".

More recently, this Court issued proposed amendments to rule 3.851, which include the requirement of an evidentiary hearing on the initial motion for postconviction relief. Amendments To Florida Rules Of Criminal Procedure 3.851, 3.852, and 3.993, No. SC96646 (April 14, 2000).

Mr. Cole pled substantial serious allegations which go to the fundamental fairness of his conviction and to the appropriateness of his death sentence. An

evidentiary hearing is warranted on several of his claims.

The court below summarily denied Mr. Cole relief on Claims IV, V, VI, VII, VIII, IX, X, and XI (V6, 915-936). The Court partially summarily denied Claims I, II, and III (V6, 915-936). These claims, on which Mr. Cole is entitled to an evidentiary hearing, are addressed below.

- A. Counsel was ineffective during the penalty phase of Mr. Cole's trial in violation of his Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights.
  - 1. Counsel failed to present evidence of Mr. Cole's seventeen year history of drug and alcohol abuse.

Mr. Cole's 3.850 motion stated that counsel performed deficiently by failing to investigate and present evidence of Loran Cole's seventeen year history of drug and alcohol abuse. Had counsel investigated, he would have found that Ann Cole first caught Mr. Cole drinking alcohol when he was only ten years old (V3, 422-23). Donald Tincher, Mr. Cole's friend and Ryan Cole's stepfather, stated that he saw Mr. Cole use drugs on over one hundred occasions (V3, 422-23, 425). He observed Mr. Cole abusing dangerous drugs such as speed balls, and he saw Mr. Cole abuse alcohol daily (V3, 422-23, 425). Mr. Tincher also knows of Mr. Cole's mental instability, and the way drugs affect his behavior (V3, 422-23, 425). Counsel failed to uncover this information and present it as mitigation. Counsel also failed to investigate and present evidence of Mr. Cole's drug and alcohol

abuse which was documented in his Ohio and Florida prison records. The prison records reveal that Mr. Cole abused homemade crank, cocaine, LSD, mushrooms, marijuana, and that Mr. Cole sniffed paint thinner and glue (V3, 422-23, 425). Though this information was available if counsel investigated, counsel failed to do so.

This Court has held that failure to prepare and present evidence of chronic substance abuse can constitute ineffective assistance of counsel. Heiney v. State, 620 So.2d 171 (Fla. 1993); *See also*, People v. Wright, 488 N.E.2d 973 (Ill. 1986). In Ross v. State, the Court held that the defendant's past drinking problems, among other things, were "collectively a significant mitigating factor". Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170, 1174 (Fla. 1985). In Songer v. State, the Court found unrebutted evidence that the defendant's "reasoning abilities were substantially impaired by his addiction to hard drugs" "significantly compelling" mitigation.

Songer v. State, 544 So.2d 1010, 1011 (Fla. 1989).

Counsel had reason to know that Mr. Cole abused lethal drugs for the seventeen years preceding this crime and should have known long-term substance abuse is a mitigating circumstance. Counsel performed deficiently by not investigating and presenting this evidence alone or in conjunction with evidence of Mr. Cole's brain damage. Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Mr. Cole.

Had counsel presented this mitigating evidence, the balance of aggravators and mitigators would weigh differently, and Mr. Cole probably would have received a life sentence.

The court denied an evidentiary hearing on this issue, holding that evidence of Mr. Cole's history of substance abuse was presented at trial (V6, 922-24). The court cited to testimony of two witnesses who testified at the penalty phase, as well as Pamela Edward's testimony regarding possible alcohol and marijuana consumption at the time of the crime (V6, 923).

At trial, Ann Marie Powers testified that Loran Cole told her he had problems with marijuana (RV 16, 1382). However, in its order denying an evidentiary hearing on this issue, the court overlooked the fact that Powers also testified that she did not believe Mr. Cole when he told her of this problem (V6, 922-24);(RV 16, 1387). Mr. Cole's foster mother, Mrs. Helm, testified at trial that Mr. Cole used marijuana and beer a couple of times when he lived with her, and that he appeared to still use marijuana when he later visited her (RV 16, 1405-7). This meager evidence did not demonstrate Mr. Cole's extensive use and addiction to drugs and alcohol which counsel ineffectively failed to investigate and present as mitigation.

Had counsel investigated and presented the available evidence of Mr. Cole's seventeen year history of drug and alcohol abuse, he would have established a

mitigating circumstance that the jury and court would have considered when weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. Because the aggravators and mitigators would have weighed differently, there is a reasonable probability that Mr. Cole would have received a life sentence.

This claim alleged specific facts which were not conclusively rebutted by the record and which demonstrate a deficiency in performance which prejudiced Mr. Cole. Mr. Cole was entitled to an evidentiary hearing. <u>Gaskin v. State</u>, 737 So.2d 509, 516 (Fla. 1999). The court erred.

## 2. Counsel failed to present evidence of nonstatutory mitigating circumstances of childhood abuse.

Mr. Cole's 3.850 motion alleged that substantial nonstatutory mitigation never reached the judge or jury, both of whom are sentencers in Florida (V3, 23-26). Counsel failed to adequately investigate and present substantial nonstatutory mitigation that could have outweighed the aggravating circumstances and resulted in a life sentence.

Counsel performed deficiently by failing to investigate and present mitigation.

Though trial counsel knew both Ann Cole, Mr. Cole's mother, and Charlie

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