IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

LORAN COLE,

Appellant,

CASE NO. SC00-1388

v. STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE FIFTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MARION COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JUDY TAYLOR RUSH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #438847 444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

This claim is procedurally barred for failure to raise it in the trial court at the time of trial (or on appeal). Clearly, DNA testing of the type Cole now seeks was available in

1995 when the trial was held, as well as in 1994 when the crime occurred. See Zeigler v. State, 654 So. 2d 1162, 1164 (Fla. 1995). Such a claim is clearly subject to a procedural bar, *id*, and therefore, Cole's claim is barred.

Moreover, Pam Edwards' testimony is not confused! It is clear that she well knows that Cole twice raped her and that he was the one who had the opportunity to, and did, cut her brother's throat. There is not one scrap of evidence to support the absurd claim that she was confused due to stress and did not know who raped her.¹⁵ Neither is there any evidence to support the "Stockholm effect" claim made for the first time on appeal from the denial of the postconviction motion. Any such issues could and should have been raised at trial or on direct appeal and are procedurally barred. *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 1022 (1997).

These claims are also barred because they were not timely raised in the postconviction motion. "This was not an instance where the Defendant was rushed to meet the one-year deadline to get a petition filed. He had plenty of time, and only last September finally got a pleading filed." (R 900). The

Not only did Pam Edwards tell Deputy Jicha that Cole was the only one of the two perpetrators who raped her, **Cole** told his close friend, Mary Gamble, that he was the one that raped Pam.

postconviction judge denied the motion. (R 900).

Moreover, even if Paul had sex with Pam, that does not mean that Pam was confused as to who had the opportunity to kill her The evidence at trial established that brother. the two perpetrators and the victim ingested marijuana at the campsite at the time of the rapes well after the murder, (RDA 1150, 1186), but no evidence was presented to indicate that Pam Edwards' had a significantly diminished ability to perceive events at the time her brother was killed. Thus, even if Pam was confused about Cole being the one who raped her - which the State strongly contends that she was not - such does not support she was also confused about which the conclusion that perpetrator had the opportunity to cut her brother's throat.

Moreover, the evidence of Cole's guilt of the murder and the rapes of Ms. Edwards is overwhelming, and even if Paul also raped Ms. Edwards, Cole's conviction for the murder and the rapes is not called into question. This claim is utterly without merit, and Cole is entitled to no relief.

POINT VIII

COLE HAS NOT SHOWN THAT THE PENALTY PHASE OR POSTCONVICTION COURTS PERMITTED NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATORS TO BE PRESENTED AND CONSIDERED.

The standard of review for this claim of improper jury instruction is abuse of discretion. *James v. State*, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997). Cole has not met that standard.

Cole's claim is procedurally barred as to penalty phase presentation of nonstatutory aggravators because the issue could and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Teffeteller v. Dugger*, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1029 (Fla. 1999); *Lopez v. Singletary*, 634 So. 2d 1054, 1058-59 (Fla. 1993). Moreover, it is procedurally barred on postconviction because the issue was not raised below. Postconviction counsel did not file a motion for rehearing, or otherwise object or call the matter to the attention of the postconviction court, and the issue may not be raised for the first time in this Honorable Court. *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982), *cert. denied*, 522 U.S. 1022 (1997); *Jennings v. State*, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S178, S181 (Fla. Mar. 22, 2001).

Assuming that the claim is not procedurally barred, it is without merit. It seems clear that the postconviction court's use of non-statutory in the context of aggravating circumstances was a slip of the tongue. Certainly, it was not intended as a

finding by the postconviction court that the sentencing court found non-statutory aggravators and weighed them in making its sentencing determination.

Moreover, the postconviction court's statement was not that non-statutory aggravating circumstances were considered by any court, but only that they were "prevented" [presumably presented]. (R 1197). Most likely, what the postconviction court referred to as non-statutory aggravating circumstances was merely the eggregious facts. See generally, Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 377 (Fla. 1994)[what defendant saw as nonstatutory aggravators were "simply facts."]. Clearly, the facts in Cole's case well support each of the four statutory aggravators found, and Cole has demonstrated no prejudice from postconviction court's reference to "non-statutory the aggravating circumstances." Cole has not demonstrated, and can not demonstrate, any prejudice, and therefore, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. He is entitled to no relief.

POINT IX

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING COLE'S CLAIM THAT THE STATE WITHHELD EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE IN VIOLATION OF BRADY V. MARYLAND.

The standard of review of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) issues is competent, substantial evidence supporting the trial judge's determinations. *Way v. State*, 760 So. 2d 903, 911 (Fla. 2000). A trial court's factual findings on conflicting evidence must be upheld where such evidence is present. *Id.*

Under Brady and its progeny, a defendant must prove three elements to prevail. They are: (1) The evidence is favorable to the defendant; (2) it was suppressed by the State; and, (3) the defendant was prejudiced by same. Rose v. State, 774 So. 2d 629, 634 (Fla. 2000). "[T]o show prejudice . . ., the defendant must establish that 'there is a reasonable probability that the result of the trial would have been different if the suppressed [evidence] had been disclosed'" Id. (quoting, Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 289 (1999). Thus, to establish sufficient prejudice, the defendant must show the evidence is the "sufficient to undermine confidence in outcome.'" Id. (quoting United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 (1985).

Cole complains that the State withheld valuable evidence exculpatory to his defense to the effect that the trial prosecutor was afraid that if Codefendant Paul were to testify,

he would "'admit and take the blame for the whole incident.'" (IB 72). He bases this claim on a brief conversation State Attorney and trial prosecutor, Bradley King, had with Cole's mother's friend, Eleanor Simpson, after the oral argument held in Cole's direct appeal. (IB 72). Mrs. Simpson's affidavit relating her version of this conversation was typed by Cole's mother, Ann, "and included some mistakes and some false information." (IB 73).

Indeed, the record shows that Mrs. Simpson's affidavit contained information which was rank hearsay and untrue which she had represented as a matter of fact.¹⁶ (R 1552-54, 1556). She falsely identified the Assistant Attorney General at the oral argument as one of the prosecutors at Cole's trial, which Mrs. Simpson said she attended. (R 1544, 1551-52). Mrs. Simpson described herself as "a court watcher," and said she has been victimized by Florida's judicial system to the tune of "over 400,000 dollars" (R 1548, 1549). Mrs. Simpson admitted that she had a hearing impairment - which was obvious at the hearing - but said it was of recent onset. (R 1552, 1561). Mrs.

Most of the hearsay statements in her affidavit "was hearsay from Ann Cole," who typed the document. (R 1553). However, Mrs. Simpson testified that she read it carefully before executing it and "wouldn't have sent it out if I hadn't read it." (R 1555-56).

Simpson said that "Ann [Cole] wasn't anywhere around" when she talked to Mr. King, but later admitted that Ann Cole was with her at the oral argument before this Court, and that she and Cole's mother had a long standing relationship. (R 1547, 1555, 1566).

State Attorney Brad King also testified before the postconviction judge. He said that the Assistant Attorney General had nothing to do with the prosecution of Loran Cole "until the appellate process." (R 1576). He recalled the conversation with Mrs. Simpson and intentionally kept it brief "because of some things that she said caused me . . . to be leery of her and what I said to her." (R 1577). He "answered her questions as politely . . ., but as briefly as I could." (R 1577).

Mr. King testified that when Mrs. Simpson "asked me why didn't I put William Paul on the stand," he told her he "didn't need to" (R 1576). He explained to her "that we had a good case without him; he was there and he could have been called, but I chose not to call him; and, in part, . . . because I could never tell for a certainty what he would say if he testified." (R 1576). He said that Mrs. Simpson's report that he said he was afraid Paul would take the blame for the murder was "not . . . an accurate reflection of what I said." (R

1576-77).

Mr. King further testified that there has never been a time when he had any indication that Paul was the one who slit John's throat. (R 1578). It has always been his opinion that Cole was the actual killer. (R 1578). Mr. King "understood that there was some possibility" that Paul would testify differently at trial than he had in his previous statements, but "had no indication at any point during the entire process of the trial that he would, in fact, do that." (R 1597).

It boiled down to a tactical decision by the seasoned prosecutor. "[W]e had a strong case without William Paul; . . . he wasn't necessary . . . there was no reason for me to call him and there was no reason . . . to take any risk that he would get on the stand and change his testimony" (R 1597-98).

The credibility determination was for the postconviction trial judge, not this Honorable Court. That judge found that "Mrs. Simpson's credibility is in doubt." (R 1198). Moreover, Cole's position that Mrs. Simpson was the more credible is belied by the record, as set-out above. Further, Mr. King's statement that Paul was not called because the State had a strong case against Cole without him is borne out by the overwhelming evidence of Cole's guilt of John Edwards' murder and his qualification for the death penalty under the laws of

this State. In the unlikely event that this Court would ignore settled caselaw to the contrary and indulge Cole by making a credibility determination of its own, the record from the hearing would compel the same conclusion reached by the lower court, i.e., Mr. King's testimony was the most credible and defeats the instant claim.

Cole has presented no evidence of a *Brady* violation. There simply was no information favorable to Cole in regard to Mr. Paul, much less any that was withheld by the State. Moreover, Cole has made absolutely no showing of any prejudice. In his post-arrest statements and in his deposition, Mr. Paul maintained that Loran Cole slit John's throat. Pam Edwards' trial testimony verified Mr. Paul's claims in that regard. Cole has not alleged any credible reason to believe that Paul would have testified favorably to Cole. Clearly, Cole has not met any prong, much less all three required prongs, of the standard for *Brady* relief.

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING COLE'S CLAIM THAT HE SHOULD HAVE BEEN PERMITTED TO INTERVIEW JURORS TO DETERMINE IF ANY JUROR MISCONDUCT OCCURRED.

The standard of review of Rule 3.850 claims which are denied without an evidentiary hearing is competent, substantial evidence. *Diaz v. Dugger*, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998). This claim was denied at the Huff hearing on February 14, 2000 as factually insufficient. (R 1221). Since there are no specific allegations of any type of juror misconduct, no hearing was appropriate. Thus, the record supports the trial judge's decision not to hold an evidentiary hearing on this claim.

Moreover, Cole complains that the rules preventing him from interviewing jurors to determine "jury bias and misconduct" deny him due process and access to the courts. (IB 76-77). This issue is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal, it is also legally insufficient. Arbelaez v. State, 775 So. 2d 909, 912 (Fla. 2000). In Arbelaez, this Court said:

The trial court did not address Arbelaez's claim that he was prohibited from interviewing the jurors. While we would normally send an unaddressed claim back for the trial court to rule upon, we conclude that remand on this issue is unnecessary because the claim is both procedurally barred and legally insufficient. Any claims relating to Arbelaez's inability to interview jurors should and could have been raised on direct appeal. See Smith. Furthermore, Arbelaez did not make a prima facie showing of any juror misconduct in his postconviction motion below. Instead, he appears to

be complaining about a defendant's inability to conduct 'fishing expedition' interviews with the jurors after a guilty verdict is returned. Thus, even if the claim were not procedurally barred, Arbelaez would not be entitled to relief on the grounds he asserted and no evidentiary hearing was required on this claim.

(footnotes omitted) Id. Cole's claim is likewise barred.

He is entitled to no relief.

POINT XI

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING COLE'S CLAIM THAT FLORIDA STATUTE §921.141(5) IS FACIALLY VAGUE AND OVERBROAD AND DID NOT GIVE THE JURY ADEQUATE GUIDANCE ON THE ISSUE OF WEIGHING MITIGATING AND AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

Cole complains that Florida Statute §921.141(5) is facially vague and overbroad and does not adequately instruct the jury in the consideration of mitigating and aggravating circumstances. (IB 78). He claims that the jury instructions shifted the burden of proof that death is not the appropriate sentence to him because he began the penalty phase with an automatic aggravator by virtue of his conviction of felony murder. (IB 79-80). He adds that the jury was "essentially told" that if an aggravating circumstance was established, "it need not consider mitigating circumstances unless those mitigating circumstances." (IB 79).

The State submits that the standard of review of the constitutionality of Florida's jury instructions it appears to be *de novo*. See Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000)[proposed constitutional amendment]. Pure questions of law are reviewed under the *de novo* standard. Id.; *Demps v. State*, 761 So. 2d 302, 306 (Fla. 2000).

However, jury instruction issues are barred on postconviction motion because they could and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Asay v. State, 769 So. 2d 974, 989 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, the burden-shifting jury instruction issue in the context of ineffective assistance of counsel for failure to object has been considered and rejected in Shellito v. State, 701 So. 2d 837, 842-43 (Fla. 1997). Indeed, the standard instruction approved in Shellito was used in the instant case, and trial counsel is not ineffective for failing to object to it. See Downs v. State, 740 So. 2d 506, 518 (Fla. 1999).

Moreover, Cole's claim that he began the penalty phase with an automatic aggravator "has been repeatedly rejected by state and federal courts.' *Johnson v. State*, 660 So. 2d 637, 647 (Fla. 1995), *cert. denied*, 116 S.Ct. 1550 (1996). To the extent Cole implies that Attorney Gleason was ineffective for failing to raise this meritless claim, he is incorrect.

In any event, the "automatic aggravator" claim has been held procedurally barred in a 3.850 proceeding where it was not raised on direct appeal. *Mills v. State*, No. SC01-775 at 7-8 (Fla. April 25, 2001); *Arbelaez v. State*, 775 So. 2d 909, 919 (Fla. 2000). *See Lopez v. Singletary*, 634 So. 2d at 1056). Ineffective assistance claims cannot be used to obtain a second appeal. Rutherford v. State, 727 So. 2d 216 (Fla. 1998); Medina v. State, 573 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, Cole's claim that the jury was told "it need not consider mitigating circumstances unless those mitigating circumstances were sufficient to outweigh the aggravating circumstances" is procedurally barred. The issue could and should have been raised on direct appeal. *Teffeteller v. Dugger*, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1029 (Fla. 1999). Cole is entitled to no relief.

POINT XII

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON THE CLAIM THAT THE COMBINATION OF PROCEDURAL AND SUBSTANTIVE ERRORS CUMULATIVELY DEPRIVED COLE OF A FUNDAMENTALLY FAIR TRIAL.

The State submits that the standard of review of claims of cumulative error is *de novo*. See Armstrong v. Harris, 773 So. 2d 7, 11 (Fla. 2000). Pure questions of law are reviewed under the *de novo* standard. *Id.; Demps v. State*, 761 So. 2d 302, 306 (Fla. 2000).

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